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PROCEEDINGS

DR. OSBORNE: Let me ask people to take
their seats. I think we’'re certainly set to start,
we can make the arrangements following. The
Commission is hearing the first witness.

While we're getting organized, I want to
announce that there will be a sign language
interpreter there at the far end of the table, and so
those who would like to be able to participate in
having the interpretation can organize themselves
down that wéj and thank you very much for being with
us.

I also want to do a little bit of
Commission business. With the indulgence of our
guests, it was one year ago today that the Commission
met briefly to validate our selection of Maureen
Byrnes as the executive director, and we thought that
we should commemorate that appropriately, so we have
a little something for you, and we’'d appreciate it if
you would look at it right now, at least I would.'
Hold on it up.

It says "Property of New York City
jails."
(Applause.)
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Proceedings 5

DR. OSBORNE: On behalf of the Commission,
thanks for a magnificent’s year work and another
magnificent year to come.

MS. BYRNES: Thank you very much.

DR. OSBORNE: This morning we’ll start off
with Mark Lopez as our first witness with an
introduction of corrections, and I will repeat this
from time to time, but if we could ask people who are
speaking--and Kenneth Castro will be talking about
epidemiologic perspective.

Tf I could ask the witnesses to limit
their remarks to at most ten minutes. We’ll put a
little timer to go off at about eight to give you a
sense of how you're doing in time. This Commission
tends to be 2 lively group and asks lots of questions
and that will give us a chance to interact with the
witnesses and that’s always the most helpful part.

If you have given written testimony, we
have read it if you gave it to us before, or we will
read it, so vou can feel free to condense that part
of your testimony or add anything if you would like.
That’s a good way to go.

Welcome, and thanks for joining us.

MR. LOPEZ: Thank you for inviting me.
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My name is Mark Lopez, I work with the
National Prison Project of the American Civil
Liberties Union, a membership organization committed
to the progression of civil rights and civil
liberties in this country. Membership’s about
300,000.

On the national level, we’re made up of
various projects, one of which is my own, National
Prison Project, and the mandate of our office is to
investigate. litigate and then monitor litigation
around the céuntry over prison conditions. In our
early years, the focus was on practices and policies
and conditions. In the. recent years and currently,
our focus is exclusively, almost exclusively, with
the exception of AIDS work which I consider policy
work, almost exclusively concerns conditions of
confinement. We probably have pending litigation in
36 states, maybe fifteen very active right now,
either going to trial or just out of trial, still in
the litigation pipeline.

Myself, I'm in seven states in every part
of the country. With that said, I'll.get to my
testimony.

A little more than 100 years ago, the
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Supreme Court of Virginia said that prisoners are a
little more than slaves, and during the last five
years, on a number of occasions, at least three
justices in the United States Supreme 6ourt have
questioned whether the majority of the Court was
turning the clock back in time when prisoners were
indeed treated as slaves.

And what happened in those hundred years?
Where are we now? Where are we going? I'll try to
answer those guestions.

With the barbaric exception of the death
penalty, imprisonment is the largest power that a
government exercises on.a regular basis over its
citizens. Prisons are total institutions, they have
a massive impact on the persons they confine. They
control every moment of the prisoner’s day and night
and eliminate almost any possibility of free choice.

In the United States, imprisonment is used
far too much. The sentences imposed are far too
long; it discriminates based on race and economic
status. And many prison terms are served in
degrading and brutalizing conditions.

In 1972 the population in this country,
combined state and federal, was about 175,000. 1In
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1980 it was 300,000 and change. Today it exceeds
700,000. That represents an increase in the last ten
yedrs of about 115 percent, and an increase of about
twelve percent over last year. The significance of
that is that our crime rates have not increased
proportionately. 1In fact, our crime rates have been
rather level. maybe 2 percént increase in crime rates
over those years.

The color of our prisons is increasingly
brown and black; 48 percent minorities and over 90
percent are boor, and while prisoners continue to be
overwhelmingly male, there are currently 40,000 women
prisoners, and their rate of increase has outpaced
the male rate of increase every year since 1980.

California leads the w&y. There are
almost 90,000 prisoners in the California system.
It’s doubled its population in the last five years
alone. It has spent over $2 billion on prison
construction in the past two years. That $2 billion
represents the GNP, a greater amount of dollars than
the GNP of 2 number of our states, or the total
budget of a number of our states.

Arkansas, a small state by comparison, has
5500 prisoners, more than half the countries of
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Proceedings 9
western Europe.

The states with the greatest rate of
increase last year were Rhode Island, Colorado and
South Dakota, all approaching 30 percent. Not
surprisingly, we are actively litigating conditions
in those states. You project out the 30 percent over
the last three years. Each of those three states
have increased at that rate in the last three years
and they’ve nearly doubled their population in the
last three years.

fhe resources to keep pace with that kind
of growth have not been pumped in or not on time, so
the current situation in those stateé is you’'ve got
twice as many folks packed in prisons that were
already overcrowded three years ago.

This country has the harshest sentencing
practices in the free world. Our per capita rate of
increase is the highest, with the exception of
several eastern European countries and South Africa.
For every 100,000 pecple, over 200 people are
incarcerated, and the next closest country is Canada
and they're about 100.

And we keep people behind bars two to ten
times as long as other countries, and the result is,.
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as I will explain, is horrendous overcrowding.

37 states, District of Columbia, Puerto
Rico, Virgin Islands are operating prison conditions
under court orders designed to alleviate overcrowding
and deleterious conditions.

Serious legal challenges are pending in
about fifteen other states.

What are unconstitutional conditions and
practices? The situation with the young first
offender who is assaulted and gang raped, not
unusual, you:ve all heard of it. State prisoner
becomes quadraplegic because of improper and
inadequate medical care, again, not unusual.
Prisoners are forced to sleep on floors in corridors,
happening in a number of states today; Rhode Island,
Delaware, Puerto Rico, Colorado, New Mexico.

As the population increases in these
prisons, resources and funds for services have
remained flat at the same time. Thus, in the
provision of medical and mental health care,
resources designed for let’s say 1,000 people are now
being spread for two or three thousand people. The
result is people are falling through the cracks.

In Indiana, a case I'm actively
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Proceedings 11
litigating, because of the unavailability of
psychiatric treatment, 200 people live in a forensic
unit where the only treatment available is the use of
psychotropic medication without psychiatric
supervision and the long-term use of restraints and
isolation cells.

Overcrowding also has an impact on the
environmental health and safety of prisons. I think
the best analogy I can think of in terms of if we
were to talk about plumbing or basic environmental
conditions,-if you were to camp out a troop of boy
scouts in your home for a weekend or for years, you
can imagine what kind of effect that’s going to have
on the plumbing and on the other conditions in your
house, and it does have an impact. So in Puerto
Rico, if you were to tour that prison, you would be
walking through raw sewage in the tiers adjoining the
cell blocks.

In Indiana, very similar situation, in the
second case I'm involved with in Indiana. 400 cells,
over 200 of the cells, the plumbing doesn’t work. So
what does that mean? The person has to be pulled out
of a cell and use the cells that work, so the
problems become worse.
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Overcrowding also has a very serious
impact on levels of violence. This essentially has
to do with the inability to properly supervise and to
classify and to monitor inmate activity, with the
conditions you’ve all read about in New Mexico eight
years ago, in Attica, and recently there was a
disturbance on Rikers Island.

The impact of the civil rights movement
in the 1960’s and Attica in 1971 opened up the iron
curtain that was drawn between prisons and the
Constitution_of this country. Historically, there
was a hands off approach. 1In the early prisoners’
rights cases 1262 to 1972, in a series of significant
Supreme Court decisions, the Supreme Court made clear
that the Constitution does indeed reach--

DR. ROGERS: Mr. Lopez, you've got a
couple more minutes. We have your written testimony,
which is very powerful. I suggest you sort of talk
from your heart in terms of what do you want this
Commission to take take way that we can do to be
helpful in the situations that you describe. Don't
worry about it, we will indeed read your testimony,
and it's important and don’'t be nervous about it.
Talk the way you’'d like to.
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MR. LOPEZ: If anything, I think what
needs to be understood that we’‘re in a whole lot of
trouble in this country about prison overcrowding,
and the effect it’s going to have on conditions.
We’'re facing a serious crisis about issues that
should concern all of us.

The ability to run a rational corrections
system to operate decent prisons that are safe for
inmates is being undermined dramatically. 1In the
past few months I or members of my staff have been in
about fifteeﬁ states and seen the beginning of the
ominous fallout from the recent Presidential campaign
and from recent Supreme,K Court decisions which are
stressing a "get tough" attitude and "put them away"
mentality. I mean to carry no grief for President
Bush or for candidate Dukakis. On criminal justice
and corrections issues, their behavior ranged from
foolish to irresponsible. The manner in which they
portrayed the Willie Horton fiasco was disgraceful on
both sides. However, public officials received a
powerful message from that campaign, be tough on
crime and get elected. The result for the public and
politicians is to cry out for more, for harsher

sentencing.
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Unless there are major changes, you can
safely predict a doubling of the prison population in
many states and the federal prison system in the next
five or six years. Unless we develop new policies,
we will mortgage the future of our country to prison
expansion programé, we will go back to running the
19th century prisons that were in effect only fifteen
or twenty vears ago.

Already many systems are backsliding after
many efforts at reform. This is due in large part to
the country’% relentless rising prison population,
and it’'s resulted in an epidemic of overcrowding an
increase in prison violence and riots, a sharp
reduction in rehabilitative and medical services and
a proliferation of lawsuits challenging these
conditions.

I would sum up by pointing to two new
problems that will receive a good deal of attention
in the next immediate years. One concerns the
proliferation ¢f litigation arising out of the
question of treatment for persons with AIDS, and that
will be discussed more fully by others today.

The other concerns the impact the current
sentencing laws are having in terms of the age of the
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population. The age of the-- historically in prison
the average age was under 30, that’s moving over 30.
In the not very far future it’'s going to move over
40, over 50, over 60 and there’s going to be a
substantial body of geriatric prisoners taking up bed
space. With that become attendant medical problems
and other proklems associated with providing medical
care for these prisoners.

Much has been accomplished in the last two
decades. Scme of the human warehouses and dungeons
that have beén the shame of our society have been
eliminated. @Litigation and other efforts has been
the force that has pushed America into the 20th
century, but much remains to be done in the next five
to ten years to continue to put pressure and to
prevent the going backwards.

DR. OSBORNE: Thank you very much. That
is powerful testimony and succinctly put.

If you want to stay there, I think we can
get Dr. Castro to come join you at the table and give

his presentation and that way we could ask questions.

DR. CASTRO: Good morning. My name is Dr.
Kenneth Castro. I work for the Centers for Disease
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Proceedings 16
Control. I should point out that while the Centers
for Disease Control do not routinely collect
information on the number of AIDS cases occurring
inmates, data are available from several yearly
surveys conducted associations for the National
Institute of Justice or NIJ and for HIV
seroprevalence sources collected by Johns Hopkins
University. Much of the data I will present here
today comes from the 1989 update, AIDS and
Correctional Facilities.

Bécause of time limitations, I will not
address the epidemiology of AIDS outside correctional
facilities.

Through October of 1989, 5411 confirmed
cases of AIDS were reported from the Federal Bureau
of Prisons, state prison systems and a sample of 28
to 30 county or city jail systems in the United
States. The cumulative number of such cases has
steadily increased from 766 inmates with AIDS
reported by November of 1985 to 5411 reported by
October of 1252, representing a four year increase of
606 percent. Because not all county or city jails
were surveyed, this figure represents a minimum
estimate of the number of AIDS patients among inmates
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Proceedings 17
in correctional facilities.

45 of the 50 state correctional systems
reported at least one inmate with AIDS., However, the
distribution of the cases by correctional system is
remarkably skewed. This slide shows the range in
number, total number and percent of AIDS cases by
number of state and federal correctional systems.
Note in the last row that over 79 percent of inmates
with AIDS were reported from only seven or 14 percent
of the 51 systems. If we combine the last two rows,
11, or 22 peécent of these symptoms were reported in
more than 50 AIDS cases each, and accounted for 87
percent of AIDS in inmates. I should mention that
1,351 of these persons with AIDS were in custody at
the time of the October 89 survey.

This next slide shows a geographic
distribution of inmates with AIDS in state prisons.
I1f we combine the first three rows, you will notice
that 81 percent were housed in New England,
mid-Atlantic and south Atlantic prisons.

This next slide shows similar information
from a couple of slides ago, this time for 32 city or
county jails, which reported 1750 AIDS patients. |
Thirty had reported at least one patient with AIDS,
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Proceedings 18
but again, 74 percent of all such patients were
inmates from only three or 9.4 percent of the 32
surveyed facilities.

Other sources of information are HIV sero
surveys. They provide essential data to help
document the magnitude of this health problem. This
slide shows selected HIV seroprevalence studies of
incoming inmates abstracted from NIJ’s 1988 survey.
Please note the wide variation in obtained results.

In the time period 1987 to ’'88, the New
York State p;ison had 17 percent HIV seroprevalence
among incoming men, compared with 7 percent in
Maryland in 1985. 1In 1988, the Georgia state prison
had 3.2 percent of HIV prevalence in men and 2.4
percent in women. In general, higher seroprevalence
rates are found in correctional systems serving
geographic jurisdictions with larger number of AIDS
cases outside correctional facilities, such as New
York, Florida, California, Texas or Illinois.

More recently, CDC has collaberated with
Johns Hopkins University and NIJ in a study of
approximately a thousand consecutive entrants to each
of ten different correcticnal systems throughout the
country. Preliminary data were presented by Dr.
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Barhouse in the 6th International AIDS Conference in
San Francisco. While you see here that there was no
statistically significant difference in HIV antibody
prevalence between prisons and jails, ﬁe observed a
wide range of results among participating
institutions.

In general, HIV prevalence rates were
higher for females than for male entrants. Among
males entering prison systems, these rates range from
2.2 percent to 5.9 percent. For females, they range
from 3.2 to }.8 percent, and among jail systems,
these rates range from 2.3 to 7.6 percent for men,
and you can see 2.5 to 14.7 percent for women.

Again, using the same study, HIV
prevalence rates are shown here by gender and a
dichotomous z2ge group. Males aged more than 25 years
had significantly higher rates than those 25 or
younger. ZFor female incoming inmates, the infection
rates were not significantly different in these age
categories. However, if you took all persons younger
than 25 years. females had significantly higher rates
than men, and you could see the upper bound of the
ranges in that particular group being 15.6 percent

infection rate.
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HIV seroprevalence rates were
significantly higher in non-white than white male
entrants, as shown in this slide. By the way, the
data provided did not allow us to differentiate
further and look at other ethnic groups. Non-white
female entrants had somewhat higher rates than white
females, but this difference is not statistically
significant and I suspect this is probably due to the
relatively lower number of women sampled. 17 percent
of our sample consisted of women or approximately
1700 of the éarticipants.

Ancther area of concern had been HIV
transmission in correctional facilities. Very few
sources of data are available to estimate the extent
of this problem. 1In Maryland, Brewer and colleagues
documented HIV seroconversions in two of 393 inmates.
Initially seronegative at intake, for one estimated
seroconversion per 244 inmate years. In Nevada,
seroconversion occurred in two inmates while in
prison for =2n estimated conversion rate of one per
604 inmate yeoars.

Unfortunately, the possibility that HIV
infection occurred before entry into the correctional

systems cannct be excluded in either of these

COMPUTER AIDED TRANSCRIPTION/keyword index




10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24

25

Proceedings 21
studies. .

Mandatory screening of releasees from the
Federal Bureau of Prisons show lower HIV prevalence
rates or 1.5 percent than among entrants. Notice a
2.5 percent for mandatory screening during the years,
the first few mbnths, and 2.8 percent among 10
percent of incoming entrants during the 88 to ‘89
time periocd. suggesting low transmission rates, if
any.

CDC and the Tllinois Department of
Corrections ére collaborating in a study to more
definitively identify the rate of HIV transmission in
a cohort of 2400 inmates.

Finally, while it appears that HIV
transmission cccurs infrequently in correctional
systems, the same is not true for tuberculosis. 1In
New York State prison inmates, Dr. Braun and
colleagues documented a steady increase in
tuberculosis cases from almost 23 per 100,000 inmates
during the time period 1977 to 1980, to 47 per
100,000 inmetes during the 1982-'83 time period and
almost 65 pex 100,000 inmates during the ’84 to '86
year time period.

Much of this increase was attributed to
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reactivation of latent tuberculosis infection as a
consequence of the immuno suppressive effect of HIV.
It is widely accepted that the HIV epidemic has
significantly influenced the resurgence of
tuberculosis in various subpopulations in the United
States, as shown by the discrepancy between the
numper of cbserved and expected cases.

IZ I may explain this slide in more
detail, the dotted line at the bottom part of the
slide shows the expected cases of tuberculosis of the
trends that Qere observed from ‘82 to ’83 had
continugd, and in red and in the shaded area, you see
the axis nuxber of tuberculosis cases of 14,768
occurring between '84 and '88.

DR. ROGERS: Dr. Castro, I want to
indicate you re coming to the end of your time
period. This is wonderful data, I hope you will--

2X. CASTRO: I only have one more slide.

It is widely accepted that the HIV
epidemic has significaﬁtly influenced a resurgence of
tuberculosisz.

Dzta on drug users attending methadone
maintenance program c¢linics have convincingly
demonstrated @ higher susceptibility to develop
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active tuberculosis in HIV infected than HIV
ﬁninfected persons, as shown by Dr. Selwin and
colleagues. You see the rates of development of
active TB of 2.1 in the HIV positive versus none
observed in HIV negative.

The 1989 NIJ survey revealed existing
deficiencies in data maintenance on tuberculosis
positive rates and on provision of prophylaxive
treatment in TB, including those HIV infected
inmates. Correctional administrators should pay
particular aétention to tuberculosis, because it is a
significant HIV associated disease, transmissable
through aeroscls, and this poses a particular problem
in crowded correctional facilities where ventilation
is often suboptimum.

Thank you.

.DR. OSBORNE: Thank you very much, and if
you would join us more centrally here, give us an
opportunity to interact with both Mr. Lopez and Dr.
Castro on the substance of the testimony, if the
Commissioners have guestions.

Dr. DesJarlais?

DR. DesJARLAIS: Primarily to Mr. Lopez,
but Ken, you may want to comment also.
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It's clear our prison system is in a
disastrous state, it’'s overcrowded, inhumane, it’s
unconstitutional. 1It’s also clear that there are
many prison systems in Europe that seem to be
functioning reasonably well.

Clearly, our crime rate has not been
dramatically reduced by the way we operate our
prisons. Do you see any way we can fundamentally
change our system to get closer to a European model
where something like adequate health care would be
possible, beeause the system is not in crisis, or are
we just sort of stuck with continual expansion,
contindal overcrowding?.

MR. LOPEZ: Yes, I do. One of the things
I want the Commission to walk away from here with is
the idea that these trends are reversable, though we
have to change national policy concerning our
commitment to incarcerating people.

As I pointed out, our incarceration rates
are double and triple that of western Europe and
there’'s no reason that has to be. Under the new
sentencing guidelines, the number of persons who went
to prison as first time offenders was like 100 times

the way it was the year before the guidelines went
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into effect. Historically, those people were left on
the street in some form of court supervised capacity.

S0 unless we have a reversal in the “lock
them up" mentality, I don’t see that héppening. I
think we can have a reversal, because it’s going to
be very, very expensive. It’s going to at some
point outrage the public, you’‘re going to see right,
after right, after right, and also take an economic
toll, |

I would like to think when we clean up
relatiens wifh eastern Europe, where are those
military dollars going to go? Well, you need to know
they’re going into prison construction now. That’s
going to be very, very expensive, and we’'re not
buying up those bonds. No one here is buying up the
bonds to finance that. Someone is getting rich on
that, but it’'s not us.

Sooner or later, there’s going to be a
price tag, there’'s going to be a--well, there it is.
Americans are going to have to wake up, A, to the
cost and two, to the human teoll.

DR. OSBORNE: Scott?

COMMISSIONER S. ALLEN: I have a question,

Mr. Lopez, about the increase in interest in the
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privitization of prisons. Does your organization
have some public policy concerning that? There’s
some serious ethical questions to that and I'm just
curious, there’s a push for privitization, and where
do you all stand on that?

MR. LOPEZ: We're skeptical, I would say.
As an organization, we’'re ?ery skeptical, because of
the profit motive. Also the history of prisons, it
started out &s a private enterprise, and they were
very exploitive, so drawing from that experience,
we're very skeptical.

I will say I was in New Mexico two days
ago at ‘the only privately operated prison, I believe
it’s the only privately, if not, it’'s one of the few,
and it’s two years old, it’s a women's prison which
tends to have a lot less of the problems that a male
prison has, but in any event, it was to their credit,
Corrections Corporation of America, it was running a
smooth ship, Z<rom what I could tell.

DR. OSBORNE: I just want to underscore
with the guestion, something you did say Dr. Castro,
but in addition to the two studies which you
presented which showed virtually no in prison
transmission, are there others that you're aware of
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or anecdotal evidence to either raise that guestion
again or to confirm that finding?

And the reason I bring it up, of course,
is that early in the epidemic was used as an excuse
for a great deal of prison manipulation in order to
worry about in prison transmission, and I had been
aware of those studies. I was curious if there was

anything else in the works.

DR. CASTRO: We are now trying to complete

the study that I mentioned with the Illinois
Department o% Corrections and the data are
forthcoming. To me it’s interesting, when you look
at the surveys done by ACT Associates for the
National Institute of Justice early on, there were
very disparate housing pclicies on no scientific
basis.

However, the warden felt he or she ought
to do things, and over time they demonstrated a’
tendency awey from isclation, and allowing the HIV
infected inmates to stay with the general inmate
population. Tart of it is, of course, because they

cannot afforc because of overcrowding to keep them

isolated, anc soO it’s most interesting that to me the

degree of activity is almost inverse proportional to
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the degree cf the problem. 5

Those systems with HIV infected population
are able tc do a lot more. New York City has a lot
more and you see in contrast relatively much less
action.

COMMISSIONER DIAZ: Ken, maybe I missed
this, but wvou were quoting 3,600 plus actual cases of
AIDS at this time; no, 5,0007?

CR. CASTRO: 5411. That’s a minimum
estimate.

CéMHISSIONER DIAZ: What percent of those
are in mincrity groups?

“R. CASTRO:  Vast majority. As a matter
of fact--

COMMISSIONER DIAZ: What would you say the
vast majoritv, percentage wise?

DR. CASTRO: I can’t give you the exact
percentile. T 1l refer you to the latest 1989 update
on corrxecticnal facilities by Hammet and Mahoney, or
I can'give it o you when we’'re done here, but I
won't make w2 a2 figure.

CCHMMISSIONER DIAZ: I'm just trying to
relate the number that was given by Mark in his talk

of 700,000 2ersons incarcerated at this time with 48
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percent of those individuals are from minority
populations, and I just want to draw a parallel with
the 5,000 number you gave.

What is the percentage? Would you say
it’s double that?

DR. CASTRO: I wouldn’'t want to guess.

I could tell you we did see in the
serosurveys ithat nonwhites had significantly higher
rates, and while not looking at specific racial or
ethnic groups. the rates of AIDS in inmates is
roughly about 202 per 100,000, compared to 14-1/2 for
the rest of the U.S. population.

The descriptor of most of these inmates
that is that by and large they‘re going to be
non-white men, many of them with a history of drug
use.

COMMISSIONER DIAZ: Thank you.

2X. ROGERS: Dr. Castro, we heard some
very potent testimony yesterday in terms of really
the whole priszon and jail system is really
concentrating the HIV positive groups that are very
hard to get 2zt and under than optimum circumstances.,

If I understand you correctly, this is

data that’'s acquired not by CDC but by other groups

COMPUTER AIDED TRANSCRIPTION/keyword index




10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

Proceedings 30
that you showed us this morning. Why in heaven’s
name is not C2C collecting this when it’s probably
the most critical source of infection as those people
move out? Why is CDC not collecting it specifically
on the prison population?

DR. CASTRO: We have some information,
it’s not routinely obtained. It has to do--the
sources of information are local and state health
departments, and while they will give us information
on the residents, on the patients with AIDS, they may
or may not héve at that time a history of being
incarcerated. Our source of information is not the
correctional systems.

Trere’'s a lot of interest in that.

DR. ROGERS: Don’‘t you think it would be
wise to do that?

CR. CABTRO: Yes, as a matter of fact, I'm

=

sorry if I Zziled to reflect that we’ve done the
initial serosurvey with Hopkins University through
NIJ and we << intend to continue these to monitor
trends over time through the local health departments
and yes, we will have additional information.

DR. OSBORNE: I give the last word to

Diane Ahrens.
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CCMMISSIONER AHRENS: Dr. Castro, I
understand, and following up on David’s gquestion,
that your normal sources of information and
statistics are through the Department of Health and
Human Services. However, we have here really the
epidemic focused in on the prison system in this
country, both at the local and the state and the
federal level, and I'm just wondering, even beyond
the data collection system that you have, is CDC
doing anything else or how is CDC working with the
Department of Justice to establish some policies and
standards with respect to the correctional system
vis-a-vis the epidemic expressed in that system?

DR. CASTRO: Well, for one thiné, one of
the--at a minimum we'’re trying to help collect the
necessary scientific basis to help drive policy,
public health policy. We are collaborating with the
National Institute of Justice in many of these
activities, and a lot of, I understand demonstration
projects ars g=zared--I shouldn’t say a lot, but some
of them are geared to inmate populations also,
looking at education and prevention activities.

Granted, there‘s a lot of difficulty
because it was. things have changed. It was almost

COMPUTER AIDED TRANSCRIPTION/keyword index




i0
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

Proceedings 32
impossible to mention the use of condoms in inmate
population to go beyond just providing information.

A lot of these obstacles are being overcome as people
understand the true nature of the problem, but it’s
still very difficult. You know, it‘s common
knowledge, under gquotation, that there is homosexual
activity in prison, that there is drug use, but for a
warden or anyone who needs to make decisions to then
go a step further and say, well, give free needles or
condoms and admit to that, it poses a very serious
problem. _

You know, this goes even outside.

COMMISSIONER AHRENS: But it seems to me
there are a number of issues here that go beyond what
one would consider controversial, like the condom
issues. This goes to an issue of standards of care
for people with AIDS in the prison system and those
kinds o©of issues that public health care needs to be
working with the criminal justice system to see those
standards are in place and I guess that’s my
question.

DR. CASTRO: Absolutely, very important.
CDC does not get directly involved in the provision
of care. Other agencies within the public health
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system have that as their primary responsibility, so
I know you heard this line before, it‘s almost, I
find it difficult to say, but that is a reality.

Our mission is not the provision of direct
care in this or any other setting.

DR. KONIGSBERG: Could I have one more
last word?

PR. OSBORNE: Dr. Konigsberg.

DR. KONIGSBERG: Yes, I heard that line
before from CDC. I also know that CDC is putting a
little money'into a care coordination project in my
state, maybe I shouldn’t say that publicly.

The point of what I want to say, I don't
have a gquestion, but a comment and a recommendation
to CDC, continuing one that I make. I think the line
between the classic prevention activities and
treatment and care gets blurrier and blurrier,
especially with AIDS, but I think that’s true with
everything else.

I want to re-emphasize Dr. Roger's point
earlier. W= heard some really excellent testimony
yesterday that convinced me as a public health
physician that frankly I‘'ve been missing the boat in
terms of how we relate to the prison and jail system,
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and I think there’s some very important public health
aspects to it, and I think it would be very simple to
change the surveillance activities, whether we're
repoxrting AIDS cases or reporting HIV positives in
states where that’s required to be reported in order
to get at that information. Although that’s not a
substitute, I think there’s something to be said for
the surveillance, but again, the major point I'd like
to leave you with is that those lines between
prevention anc treatment are just not clear to me any
more. -

OR. CASTRO: 1I agree with you
wholeheartedly, and I think if you were to look at
initiatives submitted for upcoming fiscal years, they
do reflect that sense for many of us within CDC and
the rest of the Public Health Service.

I think that the provision of care, that
encounter provides an opportunity for prevention
activities, and many of us do recognize that that
line is getting blurrier. I personally see it as an
opportunity tco do better prevention.

DX. KONISBERG: Thank you.

DR. OSBORNE: Well, thank you both for

launching today’s discussion with some very important
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testimony. We appreciate your being here. I
apologize to others that we‘re running late, but I
think this was a rich and impbrtant start.

Let’s go now to Dr. Robert Cohen, and
again, Dr. Cohen, you probably heard me say that if
you could ke about ten minutes in your comments, then
we’ll have a chance to interact, which I mentioned
before. Thank you for being with us.

DR. COHEN: Thank you for giving me the
opportunity to address the Commission. I have been
involved witg medical care of prisoners since ‘75 as
a docto;, researcher, medical administrator, medical
expert and civil rights_ legislation and as court
appointed monitor for medical services in prisons. I
served for five years as the medical director of the
Montefiore Rikers Island Health services that you’ve
heard about yesterday and I reviewed medical services
in fifteen states, the District of Columbia and the
Commonwealih ¢i Puerto Rico, where as of a few months
ago no priscners were receiving AZT.

| -~ was appointed by Federal District Judge
Susan Black tc monitor medical services for prisoners
in Florida, and was recently appointed by Federal

District Jucdge Robert Ward to monitor the the medical
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care in New York City’s Greenhaven Correctional
Facility.

In 1986 through 1988, I was the vice
president for medical operations in the New York City
Health and Eospitals Corporation and responsible for
medical services for prisoners at Bellevue, Kings
County and Elmhurst Hospitals. I was also
responsible for AIDS services in the New York
Hospital system.

In 1988 I left the Health and Hospitals
systems stetﬁescope in hand, to begin to practice
medicine again, and I've continued in clinical
practice, but in 1989 became the medical director for
the AIDS center at St. Vincent's Hospital in
Manhattan. In the past two years I've testified in
Federal Cour: involving the medical care of persons
with AIDS in Alabama, Connecticut and reviewed the
care of women with AIDS at Bedford Hills Correctional
Facility in ¥ew York.

1 present to you my bona fides in this
excruciating d¢etail so you'll take seriously my
observations and suggestions regardiné the medical
care of perscns with AIDS.

7ou are all experts in this terrible
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disease. You will hear today about the attempﬁs of
some correcticnal systems to provide medical services
for prisoners with HIV disease and you will hear
about the failures of other systems.

What I would like you to hear, to reflect
on and incerporate in your reports and
recommendations is the fact that nationally that a
dangerously inadequate prison health care system is
being overwhelmed by two epidemics; one, the mass
incarceration of poor black and Hispanic drug users
and, two, thé extraordinary medical demands of the
AIDS epidemic.

I said before that there are no
opportunities provided by the presence of so many men
and women with HIV infection in our prisons. I do
not mean that prisons do not have a responsibility to
educate priscners about AIDS, to provide them with
comprehensive diagnostic and treatment services,
allow them access in certain circumstances to
clinical trials, and always to protect the
confidentiality of the medical encounter. But
although it might be convenient to have many HIV
infected men together, prisons are not health
facilities. They are violent, dangerous institutions
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where death comes too early for the HIV infected.

Our prisons are terrible places. Although
the Supreme Court has repeatedly ruled that states
cannot be deliberately indifferent to the medical
needs of prisoners, in essence establishing a right
to medical care, most states are deliberately
indifferent to the medical needs of prisoners. Even
in jurisdictions where successful lawsuits have
brought court ordered improvements in medical
service, the rapid growth of the prison population
overwhelms the limited medical resources available.

You’ll hear today about Alabama and the
Limestone priscon, where all men infected with HIV
virus are herded into a prison within a prison,
forbidden contact with non~HIV infected prisoners and
are systematically denied access to medical care.

I visited Limestone on two occasions. It
was a chilling experience to see more than 100 men
separated from the rest of the prison, forbidden to
talk to other prisoners and to hear the correctional
authorities and two successive private medical
providers at the facility justify the establishment
of this quarentine on medical grounds.

The mandatory testing and counseling
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lprocedures when I was there in 1988, and I will use

rough language right now, involved a testing without
any informed consent of all prisoners entering the
system. There was no notification of prisoners that
they were being tested and the notification process
involved the person in the general population intake
dorm being pulled out of the intake dorm and brought
to punitive confinement and the prisoner said, "Why
am I being brought to segregation?”

And they said, "Because you have the
fucking AIDSl“ and that was by a correctional
officer, that was the notification process in
Alabama, a state by the way, under federal
jurisdiction in this prison system for ten years.

The medical care available to these
prisoners was apalling. Those who were sick were
allowed to rot until they were beyond treatment and
those who would benefit from AZT or a prophylaxis
were systematically denied treatment.

A federal judge ruled that this
segregation was medically appropriate, and that the
horrible mistreatment was Constitutional.

New York State law recently passed on AIﬁS
in prisons forbids this kind of segregation, but the
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New York City Department of Corrections maintains a
policy of segregation of prisoners with AIDS. I
would hope that the Commission would condemn
segregation, mandatory segregation of prisoners with
HIV infection.

In Bedford in 1988, I reviewed the care of
women prisoners with AIDS and repeatedly saw women
who were quite sick who were denied access to medical
care, or who, for example, had sudden episodes of
hypertension and acute serious neurclogical defects
and were kep£ in their cells, asked to walk back to
the infirmaries, not brought to hospitals until days
later when their toxoplasmosis was diagnosed.

In Connecticut, I reviewed the medical
records of many prisoners with AIDS who were
systematically denied access to medical care. I have
talked to the person working with the Department of
Corrections who had responsibility for treating HIV
disease in the prison who told me that tetracycline
was the treatment for pneumocystis pneumonia.

As you will hear, some progress was made
in Connecticut through the litigation process to
guarantee health education counseling, and medical
services to prisoners, but this example demonstrates
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a critical point.

AIDS is a complicated disease requiring
sophisticated clinicians and prompt access to
complicated and and expensive diagnostic and
therapeutic services. The health care for prisoners
is generally so poor that there are serious problems
with access to the most routine or emergency medical
services. Followup for serious medical problems is
frequently delayed or ignored and access to outside
specialists takes from months to forever.

I£ is not possible to graft minimally
adequate AIDS services on to a prison health system
which cannot provide basic services. 1I'll say that
point two or three more times, I think it’s critical.

A corollary is that efforts to provide
medical care for HIV infected prisoners must include
the establishment of medical care systems which can
provide basic care for all prisoners. I hope the
Commission will recognize this critical point.
Adding AIDS services to a Community Hospital which
has comprehensive diagnostic and treatment
capabilities is a very difficult task. Adding AIDS
services to non-functional prison health programs
will not work.
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People with AIDS should not have to die in
prison. The Commission can make an important
contributien by urging all jurisdictions to furlough
or parcle terminally ill prisoners. Such programs
cannot be AIDS specific, but should allow prisoners
in the final stages of this disease to die outside of
prison.

There’s no gquestion that prisoners with
HIV disease need access to confidential medical
services, access to qualified clinicians, access to
approved andbexperimental medications, access to
specialists, specialized diagnostic tests, to prompt
hospitalization when reguired and must not be
quarantined within prisons.

I have no doubt the Commission will
strongly endorse this program, as well as expressing
support for some program of release of terminally ill
prisoners with AIDS and the establishment of links to
community AIDS services on discharge frqm prison.

Incarceration rates in the United States
have risen dramatically in the past fifteen years,
and I provide some data similar to whét Mark did.
It's 12,500 in 1973, 54,000 people today. In 1980,
the New York City jail population was 7000, and is
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more than twenty thousand today.

¥e place millions of citizens,
particularly young black and Hispanic men in prison
and condemn them to a vicious cycle of
reincarceration by an unforgiving society without
economic oppotunity. Year after year we become more
repressive, more hysterical in our new puritanism, as
we seek to blame every social problem in our country
on drugs, and use imprisonment as the only solution.

Ags we imprison more and more intravenous
drug users, ;e will imprison more and more HIV
infected pecrle. I don’t think you need a lot of
slides to uncdesrstand that.

I appreciate the work Ken is doing and I
can’'t wait to see the Illinocis data, but if you
arrest everybody who uses drugs, then you’re going to
have more HIV infected people in prison.

I strongly urge you to recognize the
stupidity of our current policy of incarcerating more
and more HIV infected individuals by choosing mass
imprisonment 2s our response to the use of drugs.

There are two preferable alternatives to
the current epidemic of mass incarceration: Drug

treatment shculd be available to all who want it and
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there should be legalization of drugs. Drug
treatment is cheaper and more effective than
incarceration in changing behavior and modifying the
course of the AIDS epidemic, which is the task of
your Commission. Drug treatment at the present time
is unfortunately not as effective as we need it to
be. It’s like AIDS treatment in that respect, but
has greater potential than imprisonment which
wrenches individuals from their communities and
creates a huge class of unemployable men who are more
likely to usé drugs.

Legalization must be--I say "men," because
we’'re talking about 95 percent men in this
population. Clearly, there are many women and as you
have heard or will hear, the percentage of women who
are infected that are incarcerated is greater than
men.

Legalization must be seriously considered
in any strategy for coping with drug use. If heroin
had been legal and users had access to sterile
needles ant syringes, the epidemic probably would not
have spread rapidly within this population.

Is our country ready for legalization? I
actually think so. Prohibition continues to fail
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miserably and tragically and at unbearable cost.

Both of these alternatives should be
caréfully considered by the Commission.
Implementation of these alternatives will make a
substantial contribution to controlling the AIDS
epidemic. Continued mass imprisonment will do
nothing to stem the spread of this disease.

It is difficult to provide medical care
for prisoners. It is essential that medical care be
provided for prisoners., Care for prisoners with HIV
disease is cémplex, expensive and requires well
trained‘clinicians. It cannot be grafted on to a
non-functional prison health care system, it just
won’t work.

The components of the system are the same
as those for non-prisoners; the extra difficulty
involved in providing complex medical services in a
non-health care space. This difficulty cannot be
minimized. It is magnified beyond solution, by the
raﬁid increase in priscon population with an
increasing prevalence of HIV infection.

The Commission can provide needed
leadership by linking the provision of adequate care
of prisoners with AIDS to a rethinking of our present
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national policy of mass incarceration.

Thank you for this opportunity, best of
luck in your deliberations and your leadership is
valued by all fighting against this epidemic.

Thanks.

DR. OSBORNE: Thank you, that’s wonderful
testimony, we appreciate it.

Questions from the Commissioners? Diane?

COMMISSIONER AHRENS: Yes, unless I
misunderstood yesterday’s testimony, when we met with
some of the health officials at Rikers Island, page 4
in your testimony indicates that the New York City
Department of Correctiops maintains a policy of
segregation of prisoners with AIDS. That was in
contrast to what I thought I heard yesterday, and I'm
wondering if you would want to expand a little bit on
that?

DR. COHEN: Yes, I would. I confess to
being present at the conception of that policy, which
I expressed my apologies and regrets. There is a
policy of segregation on Rikers Island of people with
CDC defined AIDS. It is true, as Dr. Braslow could

tell you, that he knows many patients with CDC

~ defined AIDS who are not segregated, but there is a
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segregated dormitory for the care of prisoners with
AIDS, people who are diagnosed with AIDS are sent
there, they cannot be discharged into the general
population, and that is the policy right now. HIV
infection is treated throughout the prison.

COMMISSIONER AHRENS: When they described
the medical facility there, which of course we did
not see, they did say that because people with AIDS
require greater provision of care and nursing
service, et cetera, they are in a separate room in I
take it the infirmary, but that’s a little different
than saying they segregate people with AIDS.

PR. COHEN: They do segregate people with
AIDS. 1I care for hundreds of people with this
disease. They’'re my patients. They work, they may
not work, they don’t require infirmary housing.

When people are reguired to be in an
infirmary it’s critical that every prison medical
care system like Rikers must private infirmary style
services for people with AIDS any disease who need
them, but there’s not reason for people who don’'t
need medically intensive services to be segregated
within that, and that’s my point.

COMMISSIONER DALTON: Dr. Braslow? I
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wonder if Dr. Braslow could come to the microphone
for just a second?

DR. BRASLOW: I'd be glad to clarify that,

if I may.

DR. ROGERS: You can even sit next to your
colleague if you want.

DR. BRASLOW: There is no segregation for
people with HIV infection. There is a dormitory
within an infirmary on Rikers Island which the policy
is that it is used to house people with CDC defined
AIDS. I feei that that’s medically totally
inappropriate, and we have tried to not follow this
policy by not admitting all people with CDC defined
AIDS to this infirmary, if their medical condition
warranted that situation.

We also have admitted some people who had
not reached the stage of CDC defined AIDS, but who
did require the medical level of care that could be
provided there. We have admitted people there. As
Dr. Cohen said, there’s extreme difficulty
discharging people from this dormitory, because it is
widely known'as the AIDS dormitory, and therefore,
there is a perception that if people are discharged
from there, that they will be victimized.
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COMMISSIONER DALTON: Let me just follow
up for a second. Hi.

I take it then when you say that that’'s a
dormitory in which the policy is to place people who
have CDC defined AIDS, you’re talking about people
who even during those periods in which they are not
experiencing symptoms that réquire them to be in an
infirmary, correct?

DR. BRASLOW: That’s correct.

COMMISSIONER DALTON: And your latter
peint about %here's a perception that if they’'re
released from the, quote, aids dorm to the general
population, there may be some difficulty, that seems
somewhat inconsistent with some of the testimony
we've heard yesterday that education that’s proceeded
so far in the jail system that in fact inmates who
were known to have AIDS were not at risk.

DR. BRASLOW: 1It’s my belief that people
who are in Dorm 4, which is what the dormitory is
known as, could be discharged from there, and I feel
it would be worth doing and am not concerned about
the possibility of recriminations against them.

The Department of Corrections feels to the
contrary, and therefore that is the philosophy, that
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